IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 83,829

OMAR BLANCO,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TODD G. SCHER Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 0899641

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE 1533 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, FL 32301 (904) 487-4376

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Omar Blanco's conviction for first-degree murder and death sentence were affirmed by this Court on direct appeal. <u>Blanco v.</u> <u>State</u>, 452 So. 2d 520 (Fla. 1984), <u>cert.</u> <u>denied</u>, 469 U.S. 1181 (1985). Mr. Blanco then sought postconviction relief pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850, the denial of which was affirmed by this Court, as was a petition for a writ of habeas corpus. <u>Blanco v. Wainwrisht</u>, 507 So. 2d 1377 (Fla. 1987).

Mr. Blanco then sought a writ of habeas corpus in federal court. The federal district court denied relief as to the conviction, but granted the writ as to the death sentence, finding that Mr. Blanco received ineffective assistance of counsel. <u>Blanco v. Duqqer</u>, 691 F. Supp. 308 (S.D. Fla. 1988). Both parties appealed, and the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit affirmed the denial of relief as to the guilt phase, and affirmed the granting of the writ as to the penalty phase. <u>Blanco v. Singletary</u>, 943 F. 2d 1477 (11th Cir. 1991).

During the pendency of the resentencing proceedings before the lower court, Mr. Blanco filed **a** Motion for Evidentiary Hearing on Newly Discovered Evidence, seeking a **new** trial pursuant to Rule 3.850 (R. 2934-2937). On January 25, 1994, the lower court granted an evidentiary hearing on Mr. Blanco's allegations (R. 2949). An evidentiary hearing was conducted on February 24, 1994 (R. 504 et. seq.). The trial court denied Mr. Blanco's request for postconviction relief in an order dated May

v

5, 1994 (R. 3407). A timely notice of appeal was filed. This Court held the instant appeal in abeyance pending the resolution of Mr. Blanco's resentencing proceedings.

Mr. Blanco's resentencing proceedings commenced before the jury on April 18, 1994. The trial court, in accordance with the jury's recommended sentence of death, entered an order sentencing Mr. Blanco to the death penalty (R. 3515 et. seq.). In his sentencing order, Judge Goldstein found two (2) aggravating circumstances --prior violent felony and during the course of a felony (R. 3517). As to mitigating factors, Judge Goldstein found that Mr. Blanco's capacity to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was substantially impaired -- a statutory mitigating circumstance -- as well as some fifteen (15) nonstatutory mitigating factors (R. 3518-21). A timely notice of appeal followed in the direct appeal. Both appeals are now before the Court.

vi

#### INTRODUCTION

Omar Blanco did not commit the murder for which he was convicted and ultimately resentenced to death. During the pendency of the resentencing proceedings ordered by the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit, <u>see Blanco v.</u> <u>Sinsletarv</u>, 943 F. 2d 1477 (11th Cir. 1991), significant evidence came to light which established that Mr. Blanco did not commit murder. Based on the new information, Mr. Blanco filed a Rule 3.850 motion, seeking a new trial or, at **a** minimum, that the evidence establishing his innocence be presented to the resentencing jury. Both requests were denied.

Since the time of Mr. Blanco's trial, an individual by the name of Enrique Gonzalez has confessed numerous times to the murder of John Ryan.' During the evidentiary hearing below, Mr. Blanco presented **a** sworn statement from Zenaida Blanco, in which she explained that a woman named **Maria** del Carmen Guerra, from Los Arabos, Cuba, the same town where the Blanco family lives, told her that she knew Enrique Gonzalez and had spoken to him in a Cuban prison. Maria del Carmen Guerra then wrote a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Omar Blanco and Enrique Gonzalez were acquaintances, and were alleged to have been involved in a prior robbery together. <u>See Blanco v. State</u>, 438 So. 2d 404 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983). Thalia Vezos, who witnessed the shooting of her uncle (and the victim in this case), John Ryan, described to police that the shooter's face had "large pores in his skin" (R. 1315). After Gonzalez' confessions to the instant crime came to light, **a** photograph of Gonzalez was obtained and shows that Gonzales has large pores in his skin like acne (R. 1316). Thalia Vezos acknowledged that the photograph of Gonzalez was "similar" to her uncle's shooter (R. 1316).

letter to Mr. Blanco's resentencing attorney, detailing her conversation with Enrique Gonzalez:

Today I am doing this letter to you because Zenaida asked me to tell you what Enrique Gonzalez and I talked about, in the prison. I spoke with Enrique several times. When T visited my nephew in the Cigoida prison he was together with Enrique and that is how I met him. We spoke and I told him that I was married to a man from Los Arabos. We spoke about other things but when I told him that I am married in Arabos, he told me that he knows a man from the town of Arabos, that they lived together in Florida, the United States, and that he was named Omar Blanco, and then I said to Enrique that Omar is the son of my friend, then he told me that Omar was a Prisoner carrying out a sentence for the crime that he committed, that Omar is innocent, that the crime he himself had <u>committed.</u> I became interested and we continued talking about how the crime happened and Enrique told me that he did the crime, that he had killed a man in his house. He told me that he did not want to kill him, but the man surprised him in the house and wanted to take away the **gun** and **during** this struggle he shot him 7 times. He told me that he went to rob with some others, and I told Zenaida all of this, and Zenaida asked me to tell you that she and her husband Horacio wanted to talk with Enrique and when I went for the visit I told him and he told I asked him please that the parents me no. of Omar wanted to talk about their son and he told me no. I asked him for the address and he also would not give it to me and, like Zenaida asked me to ask him his second name, I asked him and he also refused to give it to It appears to me that he got afraid and me. for this reason he refused because he is afraid that they could take him to the United States.

(Exhibit E, introduced at evidentiary hearing conducted on 2/24/94) (emphasis added).

MS. Guerra's nephew, Julio Guerra, also wrote a letter to Mr. Blanco's resentencing attorney, detailing how Enrique Gonzalez confessed to the crime for which Omar Blanco was convicted and sentenced to death:

> I was together with Mr. Enrique Gonzalez, he is still there but he has years to go. He is like a crazy man for he thinks they **are** going to take him to the United States for the crime that he committed there , , . .

9

[Enrique Gonzalez] told me that he did the murder for which <u>Omar is imprisoned</u>. I told him I don't know because they could have been mistaken and that he was a scum for not communicating with Omar's parents that when I got out, I would tell Omar's parents that you are the murderer and that when I got out I did it but Omar's parents already knew it and through Horacio, Omar's father, I learned that you were here with other lawyers and that you were not able to see Enrique. I think and I and told Omar's parents that the United States government would reclaim him and send him there. <u>He has told many people</u> that he killed a man, that he did not want to kill him but when the man saw him in the house, they fought over the weapon that Enrique had and for this reason he killed him because the weapon fired 7 times. He told me everythins that he had gone to rob. To the extent that I can help you, I am at your disposal and you can count on me. Omar does not deserve to pay for something that Enrique did and his parents are suffering a lot and their son and relatives and everyone around His parents are trying to talk to here. Enrique but Enrique does not want to. This is what I am able to say nd I do it with much sincerity, with best wishes and my regards.

(Exhibit F, introduced at evidentiary hearing conducted on 2/24/94) (emphasis added).

As the evidence presented during the evidentiary hearing demonstrates, admissible and credible testimony, supported by

corroborating evidence, is now available which establishes that Omar Blanco is not guilty of first-degree capital murder.  $_{\rm Had}$  this evidence been presented at the time of trial, it probably would have produced an acquittal.

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

 Newly discovered evidence of innocence establishes that Mr. Blanco is entitled to a new trial under the standard announced by this Court in <u>Jones v. State</u>, 591 so. 2d 911 (Fla. 1991). The lower court erred as a matter of fact and law in denying Mr. Blanco's motion for a new trial. The evidence presented below was credible and admissible evidence, corroborated by independent evidence, establishing Mr. Blanco's innocence. All of the evidence presented below, alone and in conjunction with the evidence, raises a reasonable doubt about Mr. Blanco's guilt, and therefore would probably have produced an acquittal at trial.

2. The lower court judge failed to disqualify himself from Mr. Blanco's case, and erred in denying the motion to disqualify. The motion to disqualify set forth legally sufficient facts warranting the lower court's disqualification. The denial of a writ of prohibition by the District Court of Appeals for the Fourth District should be revisited by this Court, particularly in light of its opinion in <u>Duest v. Goldstein</u>, where the writ was granted against the same lower court judge under the same facts as alleged by Mr. Blanco. The lower court order denying relief should therefore be reversed, and remanded for consideration before **a** fair and impartial judge.

#### ARGUMENT I

## NEWLY DISCOVERED EVIDENCE ESTABLISHES THAT MR. BLANCO'S CONVICTION IS UNRELIABLE AND THAT HE IS THEREFORE ENTITLED TO A NEW TRIAL.

In <u>Jones v. State</u>, 591 So. 2d 911 (Fla. 1991), this Court set out the standard for analyzing Mr. Blanco's claim that newlydiscovered evidence of innocence rendered the result of his trial unreliable:

> At the hearing, the trial judge should consider all newly discovered evidence which would be admissible and determine whether such evidence, had it been introduced at the trial, would have probably resulted in an acquittal. In reaching this conclusion, the judge will necessarily have to evaluate the weight of both the newly discovered evidence and the evidence which was introduced at the trial.

Jones, 591 so. 2d at 916. At the evidentiary hearing, Mr. Blanco presented conclusive evidence that, had it been presented to the jury at the time of trial, "would have probably resulted in an acquittal." The trial court erred as a matter of fact and law in denying Mr. Blanco's request for relief.

The first witness presented by Mr. Blanco at the evidentiary hearing was Carmen Congora.<sup>2</sup> At the time that Mr. Blanco had been arrested, Ms. Congora explained that she had been living with her husband, Ray Alonso, and three other friends (R. 524). Omar Blanco lived "close" by (R. 524). Ms. Congora remembered the night of the crime for which Omar Blanco was arrested, and

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$ Prior to the commencement of the evidentiary hearing, the State Attorney's investigator took Ms. Congora away from outside the courtroom "to talk to her" (R. 507).

testified that on that night, she remembered the arrival at home of her husband with two other men:

Q. Did you or did you not see your husband come home that night?

A. Yes.

Q. And who was with him?

A. Fidelito and Kiki.

Q. What is Kiki's real name?

A. Enrique Gonzalez.

Q. What did Kiki do when he came home?

# A. <u>He took a pullover off.</u> It was full of blood and he threw it in the qarbage.

(R. 525-526) (emphasis added). Later on during her testimony, Ms. Congora reiterated:

Q. Now, about the shirt that you just talked about, <u>are you confused about that?</u>

A. <u>No.</u>

Q. Do you remember for sure?

A. <u>Yes, I remember almost everything?</u>

Q. And are you <u>saying this just to</u> help Omar <u>Blanco?</u>

A. <u>No.</u>

Q. <u>Are you saying this to help the</u> prosecutor?

A. <u>No one. I'm telling the truth</u>. (R. 527-528) (emphasis added).

Ms. Congora emphasized that she did not see Omar Blanco on the night of the crime (R. 529), and that she had <u>never</u> seen Omar Blanco with blood on his shirt (R. 541). However, with respect to Enrique Gonzalez, there **was** no question in her mind that he had taken off his blood-covered shirt (R. 529), and "[h]e had it in his hand" (R. 32).<sup>3</sup> This information is newly-discovered evidence.

Ms. Congora's testimony also established that the information about the blood shirt is newly discovered because, in fact, it was suppressed by the State. Ms. Congora testified that she had previously told an investigator from the Broward County State Attorney's Office that she saw Enrique Gonzalez come home that night with a blood shirt:

Q. Have you told people about the shirt before?

A. THE INTERPRETER: <u>She did sav to a</u> <u>detective</u>.

BY MS. DOUGHERTY:

**Q**. Okay. <u>You did tell a detective?</u>

A. ¥es-

Q. And who is the detective you spoke with?

A. <u>Walter</u>.

Q. Walter Le Graves? The man that is seated here at the front?

A. ¥es-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Ms. Congora indicated that Enrique Gonzalez was identifiable because he had pimples on his face, like "holes in his face" (R. 529). At the hearing, Mr. Blanco introduced into evidence a Broward County Sheriff's Office report which included a statement from Thalia Vezos describing the killer as having a "somewhat dark complexion with large facial pores" (Defense Exhibit 6-B) (R. 596). Ms. Congora also acknowledged that her husband Ray Alonso was jealous of Omar Blanco because he believed that Mr. Blanco was having an affair with her (R. 549).

(R. 535-36) (emphasis added). Walter Le Graves, the "detective" who suppressed the evidence, is the investigator for the State Attorney's Office who conducted the investigation into the homicide for which Mr. Blanco was later convicted and sentenced to death.<sup>4</sup>

Mr. Blanco also presented the testimony of Roberto Alonso at the evidentiary hearing. Mr. Alonso is the brother of Ray Alonso, who was married to Carmen Congora (R. 552). Mr. Alonso testified that when he was released from the immigration center in Atlanta,' he came to Hollywood to live with his brother. On the day of the crime, Mr. Alonso had seen Omar Blanco early in the morning and they went bicycle riding (R. 557-58). Mr. Alonso last saw Mr. Blanco around 4:00 PM that afternoon.

Mr. Alonso testified that he saw his brother Ray later that night with Enrique Gonzalez:

Q. Okay. Now, going back to when you were living with your brother, did there ever

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Investigator Le Graves is also the individual who took Ms. Congora **away** from the courtroom prior to her testimony in order "to talk to her" (R. 507).

<sup>&#</sup>x27;During the State's cross-examination of Mr. Alonso, there was confusion about when Mr. Alonso was released from his INS immigration hold. The State showed Mr. Alonso a prior deposition in which he stated that he was released from "the Atlanta Prison" on February 2, 1982, in an attempt to show that Mr. Alonso could not have been in Broward County in January, 1982, and was therefore lying (R. 571). Mr. Alonso explained that he "made a mistake" (R. 571). Mr. Alonso's testimony that he was in Broward County in January was corroborated by documentation from the Immigration and Naturalization Service, which indicates that Mr. Alonso's immigration hold was lifted on January 7, 1982 (R. 2214). The INS documentation ws proffered to the trial court below (R. 2214).

come a time when anybody came into the home and said anything about a killing?

A. Yes.

9

Q. And who was that?

A. <u>Mr brother went to pick up Enrisue,</u> and Fidel. And when he brousht them to our <u>apartment any my brother asked him why did</u> <u>you go after the quy with a qun.</u>

Q. Okay. Your brother, Ray, was asking who?

A. <u>Enrique Gonzalez.</u>

Q. <u>Does Enriuue have another name?</u>

A. <u>Yes, Kiki.</u>

(R. 556) (emphasis added). Mr. Alonso also recounted that Enrique Gonzalez said "[t]hat he didn't want to go after [the victim] but the guy came and the gun went off a lot of times. The gun went off and it shop a lot of times" (R. 556).

Mr. Alonso **also** corroborated Carmen **Congora's** testimony about the bloody shirt, as well **as** the fact that Gonzalez [aka Kikil and Fidel were armed:

Q. Okay. Does Mr. Alonso remember if anyone had any blood on them?

A. <u>Enrique had a bunch of blood on the</u> <u>left side of his shirt. That's why he took</u> <u>his clothes off any My brother took it and</u> <u>put in a garbage - one of those green</u> <u>containers where you put trash.</u>

Q. Okay. A dumpster.

A. Yeah. The one that the trucks pick up, like this.

Q. <u>Okay. Did anyone have weapons that</u> evening?

A. <u>Yes. A pistol and a .38 revolver.</u>

Q. Who had the quns?

A. <u>The pistol? Enrique had it. And</u> Fidel had the revolver.

(R. 556-57) (emphasis added).<sup>6</sup>

Mr. Blanco also introduced newly discovered evidence of innocence in the form of documentary evidence. Mr. Blanco provided the court with the statement of his mother, Zenaida Blanco.<sup>7</sup> In the statement, Mrs. Blanco, who resides in Los Arabos, Cuba, related that she had met a woman named Mamita. Mamita informed Ms. Blanco that when she had gone to visit her son Julio in prison, she met Enrique Gonzalez, who told her that he did the murder for which Omar Blanco was in prison (R. 596).

Mr. Blanco also introduced exhibits E and F, two letters sent from Cuba which corroborate Zenaida Blanco's statement regarding Enrique Gonzalez' involvement in the murder and further establish Omar Blanco's innocence. The first letter, postmarked from Los Arabos, Cuba, was written by Maria del Carmen Guerra, who is Mamita. The letter provides:

Mr. Hilliard Moldof:

Many greetings and I hope that you are well, thanks to God.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Roberto Alonso further corroborated Carmen Congora's testimony that Enrique Gonzales had dark and greasy skin, and "looks like he had juvenile acne . . . [w] hen you have like boils and you squeeze them you have like little holes left" (R. 587-88).

 $<sup>^7 \</sup>rm Mrs.$  Blanco's statement was introduced as Defense Exhibit D.

I am Mamita, the fried of Zanaida, the mother of Omar Blanco.

My name is Maria **del** Carmen Guerra. My address is **Calle** Ricardo Trajillo # 16, Los Arabos.

Today I am doing this letter to you because Zenaida asked me to tell you what Enrique Gonzalez and I talked about, in the prison. I spoke with Enrique several times. When I visited my nephew in the Cigoida prison he was together with Enrique and that is how I We spoke and I told him that I was met him. married to a man from Los Arabos, he told me that he knows a man from the town of Arabos, that they lived together in Florida, the United States, and that he was named Omar Blanco, and then I said to Enrique that Omar is the son of my friend, then he told me that Omar was a prisoner carrying out a sentence for the crime that he committed, that Omar is innocent, that the crime he himself had committed. I became interested and we continued talking about how the crime happened and Enrique told me that he did the crime, that he had killed a man in his house. He told me that he did not want to kill him, but the man surprised him in the house and wanted to take away the gun and during this struggle he shot him 7 times. He told me that he went to rob with some others, and I told Zenaida all of this, and Zenaida asked me to tell you that she and her husband Horacio wanted to talk with Enrique and when I went for the visit I told him and he told I asked him please that the parents me no. of Omar wanted to talk about their son and he I asked him for his address and told me no. he also would not give it to me and, like Zenaida asked me to ask him his second name, I asked him and he also refused to give it to me. It appears to me that he got afraid and for this reason he refused because he is afraid that they could take him to the United States.

Well, Zenaida told me that she could not give you my name and address, but it is that those from over there where Zenaida lives know me as Mamita and Zenaida asked me to write to you and tell you what Enrique told me, and so I am doing it. I am here at your disposal.

Sincerely,

s/Maria del Carmen (Mamita)

(Exhibit E) .

The second letter introduced into evidence, also postmarked from Los Arabos, Cuba, was written by Julio Guerra and provides:

Mr. Hilliard Moldof:

Greetings and I hope that you are well, thanks to God.

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