IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. 83,829

OMAR BLANCO,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

FILED

P

SID J. WHITE

DEC 18 1996

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General

CAROLYN V. McCANN Special Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 380393 675 Broward County Courthouse Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301 Telephone (954) 831-7913 Counsel for Appellee

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

It goes without question that Carmen Gongora's testimony would be the subject of a rigorous cross-examination at any new trial. It also goes without saying that her credibility would be severely impeached given her status as a medicated mental patient and her numerous contradictory statements. The State would also point that in one of those statements, Ms. Gongora stated that she had seen Blanco on the night of the murder return to her house with blood on his shirt (R 3326-3327, 3330). This statement given in a deposition is patently false since Blanco was apprehended 1.4 miles away from the scene of the murder less than fifty (50) minutes after thesmurder.i f M s . Gongora did see blood on Blanco's shirt, as she said she did on two (2) occasions, neither could have been on the night of the murder since Blanco was apprehended immediately thereafter. In short, Carmen Gongora's testimony would **not** probably produce an acquittal on retrial. Jones, supra.

The same holds true for Roberto **Alonso's** testimony. Even if Roberto Alonso could testify as to what he **heard and saw** regarding Enrique Gonzales, such testimony would be of dubious validity at best, given the fact it was rebutted by the State through the testimony of Eduardo Chong, Carlos Ruiz and Jorge Gonzales, who

would all be called as State witnesses at any retrial. Furthermore, the testimony of Roberto Alonso, a convicted murderer, would be impeached and discredited through cross-examination in front of a jury. Lastly, Alonso's testimony that on the night of the murder Enrique Gonzales stated that he committed the murder and was seen by Alonso with blood on his shirt, is inconsistent with the physical evidence which established that Thalia Vezos positively identified Blanco as the person who entered her bedroom and murdered her uncle; that George Abdeni identified Blanco's form as the form he had seen at the time of the-murder; that Blanco's wallet and identification papers were found in Thalia Vezos's bedroom and that he had nothing on his person when he was apprehended; that the murder occurred shortly after 11:05 p.m. and that **Blanco** was apprehended at 11:57 p.m. only 1.4 miles from the scene of the crime; and that qunshot residue was found on Blanco's hands.

The State maintains that Blanco's allegations of newly discovered evidence were properly rejected by the trial court. Indeed, his witnesses simply lacked credibility. Blanco's allegations of newly discovered evidence were a sham, fabricated and engineered by Blanco himself. The allegations as set forth in the testimony of Carmen Gongora and Roberto Alonso are at odds with the physical evidence adduced at the original trial as well as with each other. Torres-Arboleda, supra, Jones, supra. Accordingly, this evidence would not probably result in an acquittal at a retrial and the denial of his motion for post-conviction relief based on newly discovered evidence should be affirmed.

POINT 11

BLANCO'S MOTION TO DISQUALIFY WAS PROPERLY DENIED BY THE TRIAL COURT, HIS PETITION FOR WRIT OF AND PROHIBITION WAS PROPERLY DENIED BY FOURTH DISTRICT COURT THE WHERE BLANCO'S MOTION TO DISQUALIFY WAS LEGALLY INSUFFICIENT ON ITS FACE

Blanco has raised in this appeal of his denial of his Motion for Post-Conviction Relief based on newly discovered evidence, the propriety of the trial court's denial of his Motion to Disqualify and the Fourth District's denial of his Petition for Writ of Prohibition.

Initially, the State would point out that **Blanco's** Motion for Post-Conviction Relief based on alleged newly discovered evidence was denied by the trial court on April 27, 1994, (R 3396-3406, 3407). **Blanco** filed his Notice of Appeal of the denial of his Motion for Post-Conviction Relief on May 25, 1994 (R 3416, 3417).

Blanco did not file his Motion to Disqualify until September 29, 1994 (R 3474-3487).

The State submits that this appeal is not the proper forum for Blanco to raise the issue of the trial court's denial of his Motion for Disqualification. Indeed, Blanco did not file his Motion to Disqualify until four (4) months after he filed the Notice of Appeal from the denial of his Motion for Post-Conviction Relief. It is thus clear that this issue is not properly a part of this appeal.

Even if this issue has been properly raised in this forum, Blanco would still not be entitled to relief where the Motion to Disqualify was a sham pleading, filed to avoid Blanco's capital

resentencing, was not filed in good faith, and legally insufficient on its face.

Specifically, **Blanco** was represented at his resentencing proceeding by **Hilliard Moldof**, Esquire. The Office of Capital Collateral Representative also had a CCR lawyer present to represent **Blanco** at his February 25, 1994 3.850 hearing which commenced **prior** to his penalty proceeding.*

Mr. Moldof was appointed to represent Blanco at his capital resentencing proceeding on June 12, 1992. After the granting of numerous defense continuances, jury selection finally commenced on April 18, 1994. At the conclusion of the proceedings, the jury recommended, by a vote of ten (10) to two (2), that the Defendant be sentenced to death. Sentencing memoranda were filed by the State and Defense in early September 1994. A pre-sentencing hearing was scheduled for October 28, 1994. However, on September

²**The** State objected to **CCR's** participation in the 3.850 proceeding as well as the resentencing proceeding. CCR had **no** standing to appear as counsel in this case, to sign pleadings in this case, or to otherwise participate in these proceedings. Under §27.702, Florida Statutes, the Capital Collateral Representative shall represent indigent defendants sentenced to death for the purpose of instituting and prosecuting collateral challenging the legality of the judgement and sentence imposed. The Statute specifically provides that representation by the Capital Collateral Representative shall commence upon termination of direct appellate proceedings in state or federal courts. Blanco's resentencing was a totally new proceeding. Hitchcock v. State, 578 So.2d 685 (Fla. 1991). He was not under sentence of death and his direct appellate proceedings had not yet begun. Accordingly, CCR was acting without authority and beyond the jurisdiction allowed a Capital Collateral Representative under Florida law in their involvement in this case when a CCR attorney was present in court not only on February 25, 1994 at the evidentiary hearing, but also on April 18-22, April 27-29, and May 2-4, 1994, where a CCR lawyer sat at counsel table during Blanco's resentencing proceeding.

29, 1994, Defense counsel filed a Motion to Disqualify which alleged:

On September 26 ,1994, counsel [Moldof] was present in court during a proceeding before the Honorable Barry Goldstein in State v. Lloyd Duest. When Mr. Duest appeared in front of Judge Goldstein, Mr. Duest recognized him as an Assistant State Attorney who had assisted at his trial in 1983.

When counsel became aware that Judge Goldstein was an Assistant State Attorney in 1983, he realized that Judge Goldstein was also an Assistant State Attorney in the Broward County State Attorney's Office not only at the time of Blanco's trial and original sentencing proceedings, proceedings which eventually resulted in Mr. Blanco's case being remanded for a new jury sentencing proceeding. See Blanco v. Singletary **F.2d** 1977 (11th Cir. 1991). Counsel'have since verified that Judge Goldstein was in fact employed as an Assistant State Attorney from August 1, 1976, through May 6, 1988. Judge Goldstein's employment as an Assistant State Attorney during Mr. Blanco's trial, sentencing, and post-conviction proceedings, give Mr. Blanco reasonable fear of postreceiving a fair sentencing and conviction proceedings before a Judge who had worked for the prosecution at the time of all prior proceedings in this case.

Mr. Blanco's fear of not receiving a fair re-sentencing and post-conviction hearing before Judge Goldstein is further heightened by the fact that the prosecutor handling these proceedings, Michael Satz, the **State** Attorney, was Judge Goldstein's employer and the person to whom he was directly responsible as an Assistant State Attorney.

(R 3474-3487)

The State filed a Response pointing out that Mr. **Moldof** had had twenty (20) cases while he was an Assistant Public Defender with then Assistant State Attorney Barry Goldstein, beginning in 1978, that the Motion was untimely under Florida Rule of Judicial

Administration 2.160(e), and that the Motion was legally insufficient on its face (R 3489-3496).

The Defense filed a Reply (R 3502-3504).

On October 28, 1994, in open court, State Attorney Michael J. Satz stated that he had never worked on the Case of **State v. Lloyd Duest** (R 2408-2409). Mr. **Moldof** stated to the trial court:

I understood you had worked on vehicular homicides. I know you were a supervisor of the felony trial units at some point, but I don't recall this Court ever working on the capital cases, certainly not that of Mr. Blanco and certainly not that of Mr. Duest.

(R 2410).

The trial court denied **Blanco's** Motion as being legally insufficient on its face (R 2411) and entered a written Order stating same (R 3505). **Blanco** filed a Petition for Writ of Prohibition in the Fourth District Court of Appeals. The Fourth District ordered the State to file a response. After receiving the **State's** Response, the petition **was denied** (R 3507).

The State maintains that **Blanco's** Motion to Disqualify and Petition for Writ of Prohibition were properly denied. Indeed, defense counsel **Moldof** admitted that he was aware that the trial court had worked as a prosecutor (R 2409).

Furthermore, the defense's statement that after the September 26th revelation that:

Counsel have <u>since</u> <u>verified</u> that Judge Goldstein was in fact employed as-an Assistant State Attorney from August 1, 1976 through May **6,** 1988. (emphasis added)

was a blatant factual misrepresentation. The Office of the Capital Collateral Representative made a public records request of the Broward County State Attorney's Office on September 21st, 1994

regarding the dates of Judge Goldstein's employment as an Assistant State Attorney. Thus, **Blanco's** Motion was legally insufficient where it was not filed in good faith as certified by counsel for defense where Mr. **Moldof** knew of Judge Goldstein's previous employment long before the Motion was filed.

It was for these same reasons that **Blanco's** Motion was not timely under Florida Rule of Judicial Administration **2.160(e)** which specifically provides:

(e) Time. A motion to disqualify shall be made within a reasonable time not to exceed 10 days after discovery of the facts constituting the grounds for the motion and shall be promptly presented to the court for an immediate ruling. Any motion for disqualification made during a trial must be based on facts discovered during the trial and may be stated on the record and shall also be filed in writing on compliance with subdivisin (c). Such trial motions shall be ruled on immediately.

Clearly, Blanco's Motion was not timely under the Rule where the basis of the motion was known by Mr. Moldof all along and not recently discovered, as alleged. Mr. Moldof was assigned to Blanco's case on June 12, 1992 and yet waited until after Blanco's capital resentencing hearing to challenge the trial court's qualifications to preside over this case. McGauley v. Goldstein, 653 So.2d 1108 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995). The State would further point out that there was no good cause of the delay in filing the Motion. Indeed, suffering an adverse ruling is not grounds for delay in filing the Motion. Barwick v. State, 660 So.2d 685 (Fla. 1995); Fi er v. Knuck, 497 So.2d 240 (Fla. 1986); Lawson v. Longo, 547 So.2d 1279 (Fla. 1989). The State would also point out that Defense counsel's certification also rendered the Motion legally

insufficient. Rule 2.160 specifically provides that counsel must certify that the motion and the client's statements are made in good faith. No such certification regarding Blanco's statements was contained in counsel's certification.

As for the relative merit of Blanco's Motion, the State maintains that the basis for Blanco's Motion did not warrant the disqualification of the trial court, a fact not lost on the Fourth District. The fact that the trial court served as an Assistant State Attorney at the time this case was originally tried was not a reason for the trial court's disqualification. Assistant State Attorney Barry Goldstein had no involvement whatsoever in the prosecution or post-conviction proceedings of Omar Blanco. As this Court is well-aware, a State Attorney's Office is not a "law firm" within the meaning of the Florida Bar's ethical standards requiring disqualification. State v. Fitzpatrick, 464 So.2d 1185, 1188 (Fla. State Attorney Michael J. Satz at no time ever discussed this case with then Assistant State Attorney Barry Goldstein, nor did Assistant State Attorney Goldstein assist in any capacity in the prosecution of **Blanco** (R 3489-3497). In any event, the case of State ex rel. Shelton v. Sepe, 254 So.2d 12 .(Fla. 3d DCA 1971), is directly on point and states:

We hold to be without merit the contention of the relator that disqualification of the respondent judge should result from the fact that the respondent was employed as an assistant state attorney at the time the relator was bound over to the criminal court of record. It was disclosed that the respondent, while so acting as assistant state attorney, had no dealings or contact with the prosecution proceeding involving the relator.

id. at 14. Clearly, disqualification was not warranted under case

The State would further point out that Assistant Sate Attorney Barry Goldstein's letter of resignation to State Attorney Michael J. Satz was also not a reason for the trial court to disqualify itself from presiding over Blanco's case. The letter of resignation and the language contained therein is standard fare upon any employee's voluntary resignation. It should also be noted that Assistant Sate Attorney Barry Goldstein was not hired by State Attorney Michael Satz but by his predecessor, Phillip S. Shailer (R 3489-3497). The fact that the letter expresses gratitude is of The State would point out that even if the letter expressed friendship, which it does not, friendship between a judge and assistant state attorney, and the fact that the judge and prosecutor had previously worked together in the office of the state attorney and enjoyed a close working relationship, does not require disqualification. Chastine v. Broome, 629 So.2d 293 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993). Here, there was no friendship, or a relationship as alleged by defense counsel, merely an employer and employee who eventually severed their professional ties. As noted previously, the fact that Judge Goldstein served as an Assistant State Attorney at the time of Blanco's trial and post-conviction proceedings is likewise not a ground for disqualification.

The State would also point out that the decision in <u>Duest v.</u>

Goldstein, 654 So.2d 1004 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995) has no bearing on

this case. In <u>Duest</u> the Fourth District found that Judge

Goldstein, as an assistant state attorney, delivered a document to

trial counsel during the proceedings and was the supervising state

attorney of the division in which Duest was tried. Judge Goldstein had no such connection to the prosecution of Blanco. If he did, the Fourth District would have issued the Writ of Prohibition and would not have treated this case differently from Duest. See Mahar State, 21 FLW S387 (Fla. Sept. 19, 1996).

Blanco's citation of <u>Mitchell v. State</u>, 642 So.2d 1109 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994) and <u>Gonzalez v. Goldstein</u>, 633 So.2d 1183 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994), likewise have no bearing on this case. Indeed, there has never been an allegation that Judge Goldstein prejudged <u>this</u> case or engaged in improper <u>ex parte</u> communications in <u>this</u> case.

The State thus maintains that Blanco's Motion and the accompanying affidavit did not set forth a reasonably sufficient fear of not receiving a fair hearing in front of the trial court. Fischer v. Knuck, supra. As noted previously, the Motion was not filed in good faith, was untimely, the certificate was legally insufficient under the Rules, and the grounds for the Motion did not warrant disqualification under prevailing case law. In short, the Motion was legally insufficient on its face and was properly denied. The trial court and the Fourth District Court of Appeals correctly denied Blanco relief. Their decision should be affirmed by this Court.

CONCLUSION

نو د و

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